
SUPERIOR CHARTER TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION  
SUPERIOR TOWNSHIP HALL   

3040 N. PROSPECT, SUPERIOR TOWNSHIP, MI  48198  
AGENDA 

SEPTEMBER 25, 2024 - 7:00 PM 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER  
 
2. ROLL CALL  
 
3. DETERMINATION OF QUORUM   
 
4. ADOPTION OF AGENDA 
 
5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES    

 
A. Approval of the July 24, 2024 Regular Meeting Minutes 

 
6. CITIZEN PARTICIPATION    
 
7. CORRESPONDENCE    
 
8. PUBLIC HEARINGS, DELIBERATIONS AND ACTIONS   
 
9. REPORTS   

 
A. Building Department Report  
B. Zoning Administrator Report   

 
10. OLD BUSINESS  

  
11. NEW BUSINESS   

A. STPC 2023-03 Garrett’s Space Final Site Plan 
B. Pre-Application Conference Majestic Oaks Concept Plan 
 

12. POLICY DISCUSSION   
A. Zoning Ordinance Rewrite Update  

 
13. ADJOURNMENT  

 
Thomas Brennan III, Commission Secretary   
3040 N. Prospect, Ypsilanti, MI  48198, 734-482-6099    



  

SUPERIOR CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
Planning Commission  

Regular Meeting Minutes - DRAFT 
July 24, 2024, 7:00 PM 

Township Hall - 3040 North Prospect 
Superior Township, MI 48198 

 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

Chairman Gardner called the regular meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 

2.  ROLL CALL 
 

Present:    Jay Gardner, Chair 
 Dr. Robert Steele, Vice Chair 
 Thomas Brennan, Secretary 
 Lynette Findley, Board Representative 
 Nahid Sanii-Yahkind 
 Patrick McGill  
 Emily Dabish 
     
Absent:     None 
        
Also Present:  Planning Consultants Ben Carlisle and Diane Mulville-Friel, Carlisle Wortman  
 Engineering Consultants Claire Martin, OHM 

 
3. DETERMINATION OF QUORUM 

A quorum was present. 
 

4. ADOPTION OF AGENDA 
 
MOTION by Gardner, support by Brennan, to adopt the agenda as presented. 
 
Motion passed unanimously by voice vote. 
 

5. APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES  
 

A. May 22, 2024 - Regular Meeting 
 

MOTION by Gardner, support by Brennan, to approve the May 22, 2024 meeting minutes as 
submitted. 
 
Commissioner Sanii-Yahyai requested an amendment to the minutes. Regarding the Ordinance 
Officer report, Commissioner Sanii-Yahyai indicated that she was not “concerned about residents 
whose neighbors were neglecting to maintain their lawns” but “was approached by residents who 
wanted to know if the Township participates in the pollinator support programs that other 
communities are implementing which allows turf grass to grow taller in the spring in order to 
support native pollinator populations”.  She also clarified that, “residents wanted to know if they 
would be penalized with ordinance citations if they let their turf grass grow beyond the maximum 
height allowed by the Township”.  She requested the minutes be amended to reflect the 
correction.   
 



SUPERIOR CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
Planning Commission Regular Meeting 
July 24, 2024 – DRAFT MINUTES 
Page 2 of 5 
 

The change was accepted without objection 
 
MOTION was amended by Gardner and supported by Brennan to approve the May 22, 2024 
meeting minutes as amended. 
 
Motion passed unanimously by voice vote. 
 
Note: The May 22, 2024, draft minutes were further amended to reflect comments provided by 
Brenda Baker during the Citizen Participation (see below) 

 
6. CITIZEN PARTICIPATION 
 

Brenda Baker, Ashton Ct., requested to clarify her citizen participation comments reflected in the May 
22, 2024, draft meeting minutes. The draft minutes noted that Ms. Baker, “deemed it essential to 
apprise the members”.  She asked that the minutes be amended to soften the term “deemed 
essential” because it implies she is an expert on these matters and that she is not an expert.  She 
stated that her intent was to relay information she heard at recent hearing regarding mismatched 
culverts sizes associated with the Bazley Foster Drain that borders the Autumn Woods Community. 
 
Ms. Baker’s requested change was accepted without objection. 
 
MOTION by Gardner, supported by Brennan to further amend the May 22, 2024 meeting minutes to 
reflect Ms. Baker’s clarification. 
 
Motion passed unanimously by voice vote. 

 
7. CORRESPONDANCE 
 

No correspondence received. 
 
8. PUBLIC HEARINGS, DELIBERATIONS AND ACTIONS 

 
No Public Hearings. 
 

9. REPORTS 
 
Ms. Mulville-Friel clarified that the reports are not included in the agenda packet.  That CWA was 
working to understand what information is usually supplied to the Commission.  Gardner stated that 
these reports could be included at the next Planning Commission meeting.  Findley apprised that she 
would work with Ms. Mulville-Friel to obtain information needed for the reports to present at the 
next meeting. 
 
A. Ordinance Officer Report 

 
None. 
 
 

 



SUPERIOR CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
Planning Commission Regular Meeting 
July 24, 2024 – DRAFT MINUTES 
Page 3 of 5 
 

B. Building Inspector Report 
 
None. 
 

C. Zoning Administrator Report 
 
None. 

 
10. OLD BUSINESS 

 
None. 
 

11. NEW BUSINESS 
 
None. 

 
12. POLICY DISCUSSION 

 
A. PA 233 of 2023-Reneweable Energy 

 
Ms. Mulville-Friel and Mr. Carlisle recapped information that was provided in the memo regarding 
New Renewable Energy Legislation (dated July 15, 2024).  Commission discussion pursued as 
follows: 
 
Gardner asked what is the benefit and/or point of the Township adopting a Compatible 
Renewable Energy Ordinance (CREO) if the state has preemptive authority over siting and 
permitting of these large, utility-scale renewable energy facilities?   
 
Mr. Carlisle explained that municipalities are not able to prohibit facilities that meet the minimum 
“nameplate capacity” threshold, but, if the Township had a CREO in place, the may have some 
control to mitigate secondary impacts and may require these facilities to go through the local Site 
Plan process.  He explained that the State is still releasing rules on how these regulations will be 
applied and how local government may, if any, place additional regulations above what is set forth 
in PA 223.   
 
Mr. Carlisle also explained that CWA is working with several other communities in Washtenaw 
County to establish CREOs and are bringing this to the attention of the Superior Township 
Planning Commission to consider adoption of a CREO as a preemptive measure.  One advantage of 
a local government establishing a CREO is that it may be able to require these facilities go through 
conditional use or site plan review process and require more standards that are not addressed by 
PA233 (e.g., setbacks, landscaping, and screening); however, it is still unclear as to whether such 
standards would be considered more restrictive.  Another potential benefit of a CREO is that the 
approval process and public hearings would be handled at the local level; whereas, if the State 
was reviewing the application, the local unit of government may not be aware of it until notified 
through the state’s public hearing process.   
 
Mr. Carlisle again reiterated that PA233 implementation is still being formulated and that the 
Planning Commission has time to decide on whether to establish a CREO before the November 29, 



SUPERIOR CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
Planning Commission Regular Meeting 
July 24, 2024 – DRAFT MINUTES 
Page 4 of 5 
 

2024, deadline. He said some communities are choosing not to adopt a CREO because they would 
rather have the State oversee siting and permitting of these facilities and to coordinate all the 
public hearings.  Based on the PA233 law passed, Michigan Public Service Commission (MPSC) will 
formulate the rules and those rules will most likely be challenged and drag out in court. 
 
The Commission was in general agreement to postpone the decision to establish a CREO, that Mr. 
Carlisle should keep them apprised of the situation, and that they should revisit the topic once the 
law was clearer. 
 

B. Zoning Ordinance Update-Audit Memo 
 
Ms. Mulville-Friel and Mr. Carlisle recapped information that was provided in the memo regarding 
Superior Township Zoning Ordinance Evaluation (dated July 17, 2024). Commission discussion 
pursued as follows: 
 
Ms. Mulville-Friel relayed to the Planning Commission that the Township was still seeking to 
establish a Zoning Ordinance Rewrite Steering Committee made up of three Planning Commission 
members.  Gardner, Brennan, and Findley were identified as potential Steering Committee 
members.  Gardner said he was still contemplating the role and would like more clarification on 
the time commitments. Ms. Mulville-Friel explained that the Steering Committee would meet one 
hour before regularly scheduled Planning Commission meetings and that CWA would be leading 
the review discussion.  In addition, the Planning Commission as a whole would be updated as to 
the progress and there would be public meetings held.   
 
Gardner asked for clarification on the timeline of the Zoning Ordinance rewrite and whether the 
upcoming Township elections may influence who serves on the Steering Committee.  Mr. Carlisle 
responded that the existing Zoning Ordinance language did not require extensive rewrite and that 
most of the changes would be reorganizing, updating procedures to conform with the Michigan 
Planning and Zoning Enabling Acts, updating definitions, consolidation of zoning districts, fixing 
glitches and inconsistencies between sections, and making sure policy and objectives included in 
the newly adopted Master Plan are reflected.  Streamline and reorganization is most critical.  CWA 
has framework in place and the rewrite should only take a year; however, the Steering 
Committee’s involvement would be most critical in the first three (3) to six (6) months as the draft 
Zoning Ordinance is developed.   
 
Gardner asked if more than three (3) Steering Committee members should be selected and Mr. 
Carlisle explained that if more than three (3) Planning Commissioners served on the Steering 
Committee, then it would constitute a quorum and the meetings would have to be publicly 
noticed which could slow down the process.  The Commission asked whether Brannan could serve 
on the Planning Commission and Steering Committee if he were to be elected to Township Board.  
Findley stated that she is a Township Board member and serves on the Planning Commission so 
this should not be a problem if Brennan were to be elected.  Discussion also pursued that Findley 
is not running for Township Clerk again and would not be on the Board past the November 2024 
election.  It was discussed that she could be replaced by another member is the Zoning Ordinance 
Rewrite Steering Committee needed to continue past the November date.   
 
 
 



SUPERIOR CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
Planning Commission Regular Meeting 
July 24, 2024 – DRAFT MINUTES 
Page 5 of 5 
 

C. Other Policy Discussion 
 
Sanii-Yahyai asked if other Commissioners supported the Township looking into creating a 
pollinator support program similar to ones that other communities have implemented.  Brennan 
offered that staff could inquire if Township Board would consider discussing the pollinator support 
program at a future meeting. 
 
Gardner clarified that Planning Commissioners are to be notified (via email) the Wednesday 
before a meeting that physical copies of meeting agendas and packets are available for pickup at 
Township Hall. Ms. Mulville-Friel and Commissioner Findley concurred that this procedure would 
be implemented for future meetings. 
 
Dabish brought up the Meadows neighborhood safety and street lighting issues.  Findley 
recommended that the neighborhood residents check with Supervisor Schwartz who can share 
the Township’s process established to determine whether there is support for speed humps or 
other traffic calming and safety procedures.  

  
13. ADJOURNMENT – next regularly scheduled meeting on August 28, 2024 
 

MOTION by Gardner, supported by Findley to adjourn the meeting. 
 
Motion passed unanimously by voice vote. 

 
The meeting was adjourned at 8:03 pm. 
 
 

Meeting Minutes Respectfully submitted, 
 

Thomas Brennan III, Planning Commission Secretary 
Diane Mulville-Friel, Recording Secretary 
 
3040 N. Prospect, Ypsilanti, MI  48198, 734-482-6099       



SUPERIOR TOWNSHIP BUILDING DEPARTMENTPrinted: 09/03/2024

MONTH-END REPORT
August 2024

Number of PermitsCategory Estimated Cost Permit Fee

Electrical $0.00 $10,190.00 44

Mechanical $0.00 $11,636.00 69

Plumbing $0.00 $8,955.00 39

Res-Additions (Inc. Garages) $208,000.00 $1,352.00 1

Res-Manufactured/Modular $270,000.00 $2,250.00 15

Res-New Building $1,679,841.00 $9,618.00 4

Res-Other Building $206,227.00 $1,836.00 12

Res-Other Non-Building $11,000.00 $100.00 1

Res-Renovations $142,000.00 $923.00 2

Totals $46,860.00 187$2,517,068.00



2024January              To Date

Page: SUPERIOR TOWNSHIP BUILDING DEPARTMENT1

YEAR-TO-DATE REPORTPrinted: 09/03/24

Category Estimated Cost Permit Fee Number of Permits

Com/Multi-Family New Building $3,050,000.00 $19,825.00 2

Com/Multi-Family Other Building $28,541.00 $0.00 1

Com/Multi-Family Renovations $5,418,952.00 $35,223.00 5

Electrical $0.00 $50,660.00 229

Mechanical $0.00 $55,579.00 349

Plumbing $0.00 $36,280.00 164

Res-Additions (Inc. Garages) $1,802,328.00 $11,714.00 13

Res-Manufactured/Modular $525,000.00 $3,750.00 25

Res-New Building $20,217,415.00 $130,157.00 44

Res-Other Building $1,005,079.00 $8,099.00 59

Res-Other Non-Building $283,176.00 $2,253.00 18

Res-Renovations $1,765,347.00 $11,704.00 25

Totals $34,095,838.00 $365,244.00 934



MEMO 

 

TO:   Superior Charter Township Planning Commission 

FROM:   Diane Mulville-Friel, Carlisle Wortman Associates 

RE:   Planning & Zoning Department Report 

DATE:   September 18, 2024 

 

SITE PLAN REVIEWS 

1. Prospect Pointe West  

Prospect Pointe West is a four-phase single-family residential development project, on a 
67.36 acre parcel of land zoned R-4 an Urban Residential District.  The development is 
located on the southwest corner of Geddes Road and Prospect Road, west of Hunters 
Creek Drive in the northeast quarter of Section 33.  The applicant is proposing to develop 
Prospect Pointe West as a 157-unit site condominium.  The proposed lot dimensions are 66' 
x 130' with a minimum lot size of 8,580 sf.  The homes will range in size from 2,000 to 3,200 
sf with sales prices starting in the $400,000s.  The development has private roads with 
sidewalks on both sides and will be serviced by public sanitary sewer which will be 
designed as an extension off of the existing Prospect Pointe development. Public water will 
also be extended from the existing subdivision. 

The Final Site Plan for Prospect Pointe West Phase 1 (STPC #22-03) was approved by action 
of the Superior Township Planning Commission on April 26, 2023, and includes 39 single-
family lots.  Building permits for individual homes are being issued and construction has 
commenced. 

The Final Site Plan for Prospect Pointe West Phase 2 (STPC #24-01) was approved by action 
of the Superior Township Planning Commission on May 22, 2024, and includes 45 single-
family lots.  The Development Agreement for Phase 2 has been recorded and a 
preconstruction meeting was held on September 10, 2024.   

Each of the remaining phases (Phase 3 and 4) will be required to go through the Final Site 
Plan process. 

 
2. Brookwood 

Brookwood is a Master Planned Community on an 84.5 acre parcel of land zoned Planned 
Community (PC) a Special District.  The development is located on the east side of Leforge 
Road approximately 700 feet north of Clark Road in the southwest corner of Section 33.   
The applicant is proposing to develop Brookwood with 318 dwelling units divided into three 
(3) residential dwelling product types (i.e., stacked flats, duplex units, four-plex units, and 
attached townhomes).  The development is designed for renters and owners plus a section 



dedicated for people over 55 years of age.  Stacked flats and duplexes are anticipated to 
rent from $1.50 - $2.50 per square foot. The townhomes will be for sale and priced per unit 
according to the market.  The development will also include a clubhouse, amenity areas, 
paved parking areas, landscape improvement, and a continuous sidewalk network along 
private drives throughout the development and walking paths that connect amenities and 
with various areas of the development.  Existing public water and sanitary sewer mains will 
be extended to serve the development. 

The Brookwood Superior Area Plan Amendment was approved at second reading by the 
Township Board on May 20, 2024. 

The Brookwood Superior Preliminary Site Plan (STPC #23-05) was approved by action of the 
Superior Township Planning Commission on May 22, 2024, with the following conditions: 

1. Address all items in the Township Engineers May 9, 2024, review. 
2. Provide additional details on Natural Feature Plan including how the 25% slopes will 

be protected, and their integrity remain intact. 
3. Provide a more detailed landscape plan that meets all landscape, screening, and 

woodland preservation requirements. 
4. Provide lighting and photometric plan. 
5. Provide a detailed narrative of the architectural concept for the site including 

materials details.  

The applicant provided a project update and indicated that they are currently developing the 
engineering plans to be used in obtaining the outside permits and approvals and plan to 
submit a Final Site Plan application to the Township before the first of the year 

 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

The Zoning Board of Appeals (ZBA) has not received any variance requests.  The last ZBA meeting 
was held April 8, 2024.   

 





Superior Township
Site Plan Review Application

Page 2 of 5
Revised 04/30/19

Superior Charter Township, 3040 N. Prospect Rd., Ypsilanti, MI 48198 
Telephone: 734-482-6099   Website: superiortownship.org Fax 734-482-3842

GENERAL INFORMATION

Name of Proposed Development__________________________________________________

Address of Property ____________________________________________________________

Current Zoning District Classification of Property _____________________________

Is the zoning classification a Special District as 

defined by Article 7 ? YES NO  

Has this property been the subject of a rezoning request, Zoning Board of Appeals 
petition or other Township action with the past five (5) years?  YES NO  

Please explain __________________________________________
___________________________________________________
___________________________________________________

Tax ID Number(s) of 
property______________________________________________________________

Site Location - Property is located on (circle one) N S E W side of __________ Road 
between _______________________ and __________________ Roads.

Legal Description of Property (please attach a separate sheet)
Where a metes and bounds description is used, lot line angles or bearings shall be indicated on the 
plan. Lot line dimensions and angles or bearings shall be based upon a boundary survey prepared by 
a registered surveyor and shall correlate with the legal description.

Site Area (Acreage) and Dimensions

Are there any existing structures on the property?  YES NO  

Please explain: __________________________________________
___________________________________________________
___________________________________________________



Superior Township
Site Plan Review Application

Page 3 of 5
Revised 04/30/19

Superior Charter Township, 3040 N. Prospect Rd., Ypsilanti, MI 48198 
Telephone: 734-482-6099   Website: superiortownship.org Fax 734-482-3842

PROPOSED LAND USE

Residential       Office       Commercial                            Other

If other, please specify _______________________________________________________________________________

Number of units _______________________________________________________
Total floor area of each unit ______________________________________________
Give a complete description of the proposed development.

___________________________________________________
___________________________________________________
___________________________________________________

ESTIMATED COSTS

Buildings and other structures ____________________________________________

Site improvements ________________________________________
Landscaping ___________________________________________
Total ________________________________________________

ESTIMATED DATES OF CONSTRUCTION

Initial construction ________________________________________
Project completion ________________________________________
Initial construction of phases (IF APPLICABLE) _______________________
___________________________________________________

Completion of subsequent phases. (IF APPLICABLE)_____________________
___________________________________________________

Estimated date of first occupancy _______________________________

IDENTIFY EACH DRAWING SUBMITTED BY NAME OF PLAN OR 
DRAWING, DATE AND DRAWING NUMBER (ATTACH ADDITIONAL 

SHEET IF NECESSARY)

_________________________________ ___________________________________

_________________________________ ___________________________________



Superior Township
Site Plan Review Application

Page 4 of 5
Revised 04/30/19

Superior Charter Township, 3040 N. Prospect Rd., Ypsilanti, MI 48198 
Telephone: 734-482-6099   Website: superiortownship.org Fax 734-482-3842

APPLICANT INFORMATION

APPLICANTS NAME_____________________________________________

Company____________________________________________________

Address_____________________________________________________

Telephone Number _____________________ Email _________________

Company____________________________________________________

Address_____________________________________________________

Telephone Number _____________________ Email__________________

Company____________________________________________________

Address_____________________________________________________

Telephone Number _____________________ Email _________________

Company____________________________________________________

Address_____________________________________________________

Telephone Number _____________________Email__________________

Company____________________________________________________

Address_____________________________________________________

Telephone Number _____________________Email__________________

















© 2022 Microsoft Corporation © 2022 Maxar ©CNES (2022) Distribution Airbus DS 

©

M IDWE S T E RN

& 2 N S 8 / T I N *
3815 Plaza Drive  Ann Arbor, Michigan 48108

(734) 995-0200 • www.midwesternconsulting.com
Land Development • Land Survey • Institutional • Municipal

Wireless Communications • Transportation • Landfill Services



©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s



©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s



©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s



©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s



©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s



©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s



©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s



©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s



©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s



©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s



©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s



A
A

B
B

C
C

©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s



©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s



©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s



©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s

OVERALL LEGAL DESCRIPTION
Commencing at the N.W. corner of fractional Section 7, T2S, R7E, Superior Township, Washtenaw County,
Michigan, thence S 00° 59' 02" E 448.68 feet along the west line of said Section 7 and the center line of Dixboro Road
to the POINT OF BEGINNING,

thence N 89° 40' 15" E 714.60 feet,
thence N 47° 33' 36" E 409.14 feet,
thence S 89° 02' 44" E 96.09 feet,
thence S 42° 43' 10" E 322.72 feet,
thence S 22° 14' 32" E 220.57 feet,
thence N 89° 08' 28" E 103.71 feet,
thence S 9° 20' 43" E 230.33 feet,
thence N 88° 24' 25" E 142.52 feet,
thence S 28° 47' 56" E 175.86 feet,
thence S 63° 37' 02" E 446.72 feet,
thence N 75° 36' 30" E 84.41 feet,
thence S 2° 49' 01" E 1103.51 feet,
thence along the northerly right of way line of M-14 expressway in the following five (5) courses:
S 88° 57' 38" W 990.94 feet,
N 70° 37' 31" W 478.31 feet,
N 48° 59' 02" W 700.00 feet,
S 89° 00' 58" W 110.00 feet,
N 44° 00' 58" W 320.00 feet,
thence N 00° 59' 02" W 990.05 feet along the west line of said Section 7 and the center line of Dixboro Road

to the POINT OF BEGINNING, being a part of the N 1/2 if said Section 7, T2S, R7E, Superior Township, Washtenaw
County, Michigan, containing 76.97 acre of land more or less, subject to the rights of the public over the west 33.00
feet thereof as occupied by Dixboro Road, subject to easements or restrictions of record, if any.



©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s



©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s



©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s



©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s



©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s



©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s



©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s



©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s



©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s





©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s



©

M
ID

W
E
S
T
E
R
N

&
2
N
S
8
/
T
IN

*
38

15
 P

la
za

 D
riv

e 
 A

nn
 A

rb
or

, M
ic

hi
ga

n 
48

10
8

(7
34

) 9
95

-0
20

0 
• 

w
w

w
.m

id
w

es
te

rn
co

ns
ul

tin
g.

co
m

La
nd

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t •
 L

an
d 

Su
rv

ey
 •

 In
st

itu
tio

na
l •

 M
un

ic
ip

al
W

ire
le

ss
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 •

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

• 
La

nd
fil

l S
er

vi
ce

s

























 

Benjamin R. Carlisle, President   Douglas J. Lewan, Executive Vice President   John L. Enos, Vice President 
David Scurto, Principal   Sally M. Elmiger, Principal   R. Donald Wortman, Principal 

Paul Montagno, Principal,   Megan Masson-Minock, Principal,    Laura Kreps, Senior Associate 
Richard K. Carlisle, Past President/Senior Principal 

 

 Date: January 11, 2024 
July 26, 2024 

September 9, 2024 
   

Final Site Plan Review  
For 

Superior Township, Michigan 
 
 

 
Applicant:  Scott Halpert  
 
Project Name: Garretts Space   
 
Location: 3900 Dixboro Road 
 
Plan Date:  May 7, 2024  
 
Current Zoning: PC, Planned Community District 
  
Action Requested: Final Site Plan Approval   
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

 
A preliminary site plan application has been submitted to improve the property at 3900 Dixboro 
to create residential center to treat young adults suffering from depression and anxiety.   The 
facility will include both inpatient and daily services, with a non-medical and non-institutional 
focus.  As part of the site plan, the applicant proposes the following improvements to the site:  

1. Convert the existing home on the site to administrative offices 
2. Construct a 10,100 square foot building to house 15 to 20 residents 
3. Construct a 2,100 square foot building for recreational and therapy activities 
4. Construction of a parking lot 
5. Landscaping improvements  
6. Create walking paths and lookouts through the site’s natural features.   
7. Expanding the sites well and sceptic system 
8. Construct two (2) stormwater detention ponds 

 



Garrets Space 
                        September 9, 2024 

2 
 

 
The applicant proposes phased development:  
 

• Phase 1: Use of the existing house for administrative offices and day programming. This 
phase does not include any overnight guests. 

• Phase 2:  Construction of the residential structure and creativity studio with parking 
areas, and utility and landscaping improvements.  This phase includes expanded day 
programming and overnight residents.  

• Phase 3: Additional ancillary elements, including the barn for gardening and therapeutic 
animals, and outdoor recreation and gathering spaces, will be constructed as funding 
allows. 

 
The 76 acres consists of seven (7) parcels that will be combined.  The site has historically been 
used as a single-family residence.  The site includes significant natural resources including 
woodlands, steep slopes, a creek, floodplain, and wetlands.    The applicant has agreed to a Zoning 
and Land Use Agreement that limits uses, limits the number of residents, limits the number of 
employees, and agrees to a conservation easement on between 55 to 60 acres undeveloped 
portions of the property.   The nearest site improvements are over 370 feet from any property 
to the north, over 540 feet to the south, over 500 feet to the east, and over 600 feet from Dixboro 
Road.  
 
At full build-out, the facility will be able to accommodate 30 guests, 15-20 of whom will stay as 
residents for 2 to 4- week periods, with the remaining participating in day programming and 
support services. The facility is expected to employ 20 people, including 2 overnight employees. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Garrets Space 
                        September 9, 2024 

3 
 

 
 

Aerial Photograph 
 

 
 
The Zoning and existing land uses for the subject site and surrounding parcels are identified in 
the following table: 
 

Direction Zoning Existing Use 
North A2 – Agriculture District  Single Family Residential  
South A2 – Agriculture District / M-14    Single Family Residential - Highway   
East PC-Planned Community District Single Family Residential / Open 

Space Conservation  
West Ann Arbor Township  Single Family Residential    

D
ix

bo
ro

 R
oa

d 
 



Garrets Space 
                        September 9, 2024 

4 
 

 
PROCESS 

 
An Area Plan petition for this site was approved by the Township Board on July 17, 2023 on a 
vote of 5-2.  The Preliminary Site Plan was approved by the Planning Commissoin on January 24, 
2024 on a vote of 7-0.   
 

 
 
 
PRELMINIARY SITE PLAN 

 
The Preliminary Site Plan was approved by the Planning Commissoin on January 24, 2024 on a 
vote of 7-0, with the following conditions:  
 

1. Clarify timing of the phases. Combine Parcels 
2. Submit a conservation easement with legal description for township review 
3. Confirm if EGLE permit is required. If required, obtain permit prior to final site plan 

approval.  
4. Indicate any location where new development, grading, or other activity is proposed 

within a steep sloe as defined in the ordinance. 
5. Confirm access and any necessary road improvements from the Road Commission. 
6. Submit a lighting and photometric plan 
7. Submit a landscaping plan 
8. Provide a detailed narrative of the architectural concept for the site including material 

details 
9. Address all items in the Township Engineers January 11, 2024 review 
10. Address all items in the Fire Marshals December 18, 2023 review.  



Garrets Space 
                        September 9, 2024 

5 
 

 
FINAL SITE PLAN CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

 
The applicant has submitted a Final Site Plan: 
 

1. Clarify timing of the phases. Combine Parcels. 
 
Phase 1 includes reuse of the existing house for administrative offices and day 
programing.  No overnight guests will stay on the property as part of Phase 1.  Phase 2 
includes construction of the residential center and creativity studio.  Construction for the 
residential center and creativity studio is expected to start in late summer of 2024 and 
will take approximately 18 months to complete.  The existing parcels will be combined 
into one parcel following approval of the final site plan. 

 
2. Submit a conservation easement with legal description for township review. 

  
An application for the proposed conservation easement was submitted to the Washtenaw 
County Natural Areas Preservation Program (NAPP) on January 18, 2024 for their review. 
Upon notification from NAPP that the proposed conservation easement has been 
accepted, a legal description will be prepared and provided to the Township for review. 
Sheet 11 in the Final Site Plan shows the proposed conservation easement area.  Once a 
legal description is complete, it will be reviewed by the Township Engineer.   

 
3. Confirm if EGLE permit is required. If required, obtain permit prior to final site plan 

approval.  
 

A permit is required from EGLE for the proposed impacts to Wetland F and a portion of 
Wetland D.  The wetland impact and mitigation has received technical approval from 
EGLE.  

 
4. Indicate any location where new development, grading, or other activity is proposed 

within a steep slope as defined in the ordinance. 
 
Areas of steep slopes (25% or greater) on the site are located primarily along the north side of 
the parcel, adjacent to Fleming Creek, and to the east of the existing house.   Existing slopes 
within the proposed development area generally range from 10% to 12%.  The Natural Feature 
Plan, Sheet 6, indicates steep slope location and grading.  There is no proposed grading in any 
steep slope area.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Garrets Space 
                        September 9, 2024 

6 
 

 
5. Confirm access and any necessary road improvements from the Road Commission. 

 
Work proposed in the Dixboro Road Right-of-way (ROW) must meet the requirements of 
the Washtenaw County Road Commission (WCRC) as they have jurisdiction within the 
public ROW of Dixboro Road and for determining necessity for deceleration or 
acceleration taper modifications (or other necessary improvements) based on anticipated 
traffic counts.  
 
The proposed plans have received technical approval from the Washtenaw County Road 
Commission. 

 
6. Submit a lighting and photometric plan. 

 
The applicant is proposing 64 bollards and 13 wall sconces.  The fixtures and photometrics 
meet ordinance requirements.   
 

7. Submit a landscaping plan. 
 

 The applicant has submitted a landscaping plan.  The landscaping plan and tree mitigation 
plan meet all ordinance requirements.   

  
8. Provide a detailed narrative of the architectural concept for the site including material 

details. 
 

The applicant has provided architectural details on Sheets A2.01, A2.02, A2.03.   The 
Residential Center and Creativity Studio materials include metal roof, cedar shingles, 
accoya wood siding, and stone accents.  The intent is to match the architectural style and 
material of the existing house on site.  

 
9. Address all items in the Township Engineers January 11, 2024 review. 

 
Engineering will be reviewed in a separate memo.   
 

10. Address all items in the Fire Marshals December 18, 2023 review.  
 

Fire will be reviewed in a separate memo. 
 
 
CONSISTANCY WITH PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN 

 
We find that the final site plan conforms to the approved preliminary site plan.  Noted 
differences include:  

1. The drive to the residential center was lengthened to accommodate fire access 



Garrets Space 
                        September 9, 2024 

7 
 

2. The location of the trails/paths around the existing house, creativity studio, and residential 
center have been slightly altered.  

 
OUTSIDE AGENCY APPROVALS 

 
The proposed plans have received technical approval from the Washtenaw County Water Resources 
Commissioner, Washtenaw County Road Commission, and Washtenaw County Environmental Health 
Division. 
 
SUMMARY 

 
We recommend final site plan approval.   

 
   

 

  
 
cc: Ken Schwartz, Township Supervisor  
 Lynette Findley, Township Clerk  
 Diane Mulville-Friel, Zoning Administrator 
 George Tsakof, Township Engineer  

Cresson Slotten, Township Engineer 
 
 



1

Candice M. Briere

From: Tom J. Covert
Sent: Monday, April 1, 2024 8:00 PM
To: Candice M. Briere
Subject: FW: Permit Application 19325 Garrett's Place
Attachments: LOC Template Permit without RIA.pdf; Insurance Requirements-WCRC 2021.pdf

 
 

From: McCulloch, Mark [mailto:mccullochm@wcroads.org]  
Sent: Monday, June 26, 2023 3:04 PM 
To: scott@garrettsspace.org 
Cc: Tom J. Covert <tjc@midwesternconsulting.com>; Ken Schwartz <kenschwartz@superior-twp.org>; Streight, Gary 
<streightg@wcroads.org>; Lawrence, Callie <lawrencec@wcroads.org> 
Subject: Permit Application 19325 Garrett's Place 
 
Hello ScoƩ, 
 
For the Washtenaw County Road Commission (WCRC) to issue a permit for ingress /egress to your site proposal, the 
following administraƟve items will need to be submiƩed: 
 

1) A surety in the form of an irrevocable leƩer of credit ( see aƩached) or cash (check) in the amount of $27,000. If 
you elect to submit an LOC, please have your banking insƟtuƟon provide a draŌ document to my aƩenƟon for 
inspecƟon using the language in the aƩachment.  

2) Name of the contractor, address and contact informaƟon performing work in the public road right of way 
3) If not on file, a current cerƟficate of liability insurance from your contractor above in the amounts referenced in 

the aƩachment. 
 
Please have documents sent to permits@wcroads.org. I can be reached at the numbers below should you have 
quesƟons.  
 
Mark 
 

 

Mark McCulloch 
Sr. Project Manager - Permits 
 
Washtenaw County Road Commission 
555 N. Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, Michigan 
 
Direct: (734) 327-6679 | Main: (734) 761-1500 | Cell: (734) 845-2924 
wcroads.org | Follow us on Facebook  

 
 



 

 

Environmental Health Division 
705 N Zeeb Road  Ann Arbor, MI 48103 
Phone: 734-222-3800  Fax: 734-222-3930 
washtenaw.org/envhealth 

Washtenaw County Health Department 
555 Towner Street  Ypsilanti, MI 48198 

Phone: 734-544-6700  Fax: 734-544-6705 
washtenaw.org/health 

Washtenaw County Dental Clinic  111 N Huron Street  Ypsilanti, MI 48197  Phone: 734-480-4250  Registration: 877-313-6232  washtenaw.org/smile 

 

August 14, 2024 
 

 
Candice Briere 
Midwestern Consulting 
3815 Plaza Drive 
Ann Arbor, MI 48108 

RE: Permit Status for Garrett’s 
Space, 3900 Dixboro Road 
Section #7, Superior Township 
Washtenaw County 

 
 

 
Dear Candice:  
 
I want to provide an update on the status of well and sewage permits for the Garrett’s Space project at 3900 
Dixboro Road in Superior Township. Midwestern Consulting submitted applications for the onsite water supply 
well and sewage disposal systems to the Washtenaw County Health Department (WCHD) for the project. As 
proposed, Garrett’s Space will consist of a residential treatment center, a creativity studio, and the conversion of 
the existing structure on site into administrative offices.  
 
A soil evaluation was conducted in October 2023 in the western portion of the proposed primary drainfield, 
during which an approved soil formation was located for an onsite wastewater disposal system. The soils 
observed were consistent with previously approved test pits located in the reserve drainfield area conducted in 
2017 and the eastern portion of the primary drainfield observed in 1993. 
 
WCHD has reviewed site plans for both the onsite water supply and sewage disposal system. WCHD issued a 
permit for a Type II non-transient public water supply well on August 1, 2024. The sewage system plans were 
found to be in substantial conformance with WCHD requirements. However, because Superior Township is a 
designated Well First area the well must be drilled and shown to produce an adequate quantity of water before 
the sewage permit can be issued. 
 
At this time WCHD has not received a well drilling record for the project. Upon receiving a drilling record 
showing the well can produce enough water for the project WCHD will issue the sewage permit. Should you 
have questions regarding this letter, please contact me at 734-222-3855. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 
Jennifer Conn, PE, REHS 
Public Health Engineer   









 EVAN N. PRATT, P.E.                     Harry Sheehan 
               Chief Deputy Water Resources Commissioner   
 Water Resources Commissioner  
 705 N Zeeb Road  Scott Miller, P.E. 

 Ann Arbor, MI 48103  Deputy Water Resources Commissioner

 734-222-6860 

  Theo Eggermont 

 Drains@washtenaw.org  Public Works Director 

Washtenaw.org/Drains 

 
August 13, 2024 

 

Candice M. Briere 

3815 Plaza Drive 

Ann Arbor, MI 48108 

RE: Garrett’s Space 

3900 Dixboro Road 

Superior Township, MI 

WCWRC Project No. 9216 

 

Dear Ms. Briere: 

 

This office has completed a review of the submittals for the above referenced project. 

These documents were received on August 1, 2024. The plans are dated May 7, 2024, 

and have a latest revision date of August 1, 2024.  As a result of our review, we would like 

to offer the following comment: 

1. The construction plans are technically correct. Please note that any future 

revisions to the stormwater management system should be submitted to this office 

for additionally review and approval. 

2. Please see the attached invoice for the current fees and remit these fees upon 

receipt. 

If you have any questions, please contact me via email at byrnem@washtenaw.org.  

Sincerely, 

 

 

Matt Byrne 

Stormwater Engineer 
(approval \ Garrett’s Space_rev2) 
 

CC:  Lynette Findley, Superior Township Clerk 

Diane Mulville-Friel, Superior Township Planning Consultant (CWA) 

George Tsakoff, PE, Superior Township Engineer (OHM) 

Cresson Slotten, PE, Superior Township Engineer (OHM) 

mailto:Drains@washtenaw.org
mailto:byrnem@washtenaw.org


1

Candice M. Briere

From: Bales, James (EGLE) <BalesJ@michigan.gov>
Sent: Monday, September 16, 2024 4:22 PM
To: Tom J. Covert
Cc: Candice M. Briere; Scott Halpert
Subject: RE: Garrett's Space Dixboro Road

Hi Tom, 
 
Your follow up summary of our meeting and understanding of the permit process going forward looks accurate. Until we 
receive and review an application, I can’t really speak to the likelihood of receiving a permit for proposed resource 
impacts associated with this project (or compare it to other similar projects that were or were not permitted). Each 
application is evaluated under the review criteria outlined in statute (Part 303) and each project may have site specific 
elements that impact the project and our evaluation of prudent and feasible alternatives. 
 
As we discussed, I am sending this email in place of a formal pre-application letter as a follow-up to your pre-application 
meeting on August 28, 2024. 
 
During the on-site pre-application meeting for the proposed residential center in Superior Township, we discussed the 
following: 
 

 We determined that wetland impacts associated with the proposed project would require authorization under Part 
303 of the NREPA. 

 We discussed typical wetland mitigation thresholds and requirements for impacts authorized by EGLE. Mitigation 
is required when impacts above 1/3 acre are authorized. EGLE may waive the wetland mitigation condition if the 
permitted wetland impact is less than 1/3 of an acre and no reasonable opportunity for mitigation exists. When 
there are permitted impacts below a tenth of an acre, other forms of mitigation can sometimes be considered for 
these “smaller” impacts, including the incorporation of “green infrastructure”/BMPs into the plan, invasive 
species removal/management at the site, etc.    

o Your plan/proposal to place wetland on this property within a conservation easement should be presented 
for us to consider in the “Mitigation” section of the application. A “final” decision on mitigation 
requirements cannot be made until we receive an application and make a permitting decision.  

 When proposing a Conservation Easement, “squaring off” the boundaries and including an 
“”upland buffer” around the wetland within the Conservation Easement, are encouraged. 

o EGLE Conservation Easement information is available on the Wetland Mitigation page on our website: 
Wetland Mitigation (michigan.gov) 
 

Project Category 
 Individual Permit  - $500 application fee and 20-day Public Notice. 

 
Complete Application and Alternatives Analysis 

 We discussed:  
o Providing site limitations – project ordinances or restrictions. 
o Providing a complete alternatives analysis showing that you have avoided and minimized proposed 

resource impacts.  
 This should include multiple site plans – with the selected/proposed site plan avoiding resource 

impacts to the largest extent possible.  
 Correspondence with the Road Commission highlighting safety considerations and any other 

requirements that impacted the proposed plan should also be provided. 
o Identify impact totals – both permanent and temporary.  

 Display wetland boundaries, stream ordinary high-water marks where applicable, and the 100-
year floodplain elevation on plans/cross sections. 



2

 Please also show/label proposed impact areas, volumes, etc. on the plans as applicable. 
 
Threatened & Endangered Species 

 We discussed:  
o Indiana bat/Northern long-eared bat  

 Tree clearing during cool season only. 
o As a follow up to our meeting, you provided EGLE with the USFWS Michigan Determination Key 

Consistency Letter. The conservation measures provided in that letter will be included as permit 
conditions if an EGLE permit is issued for proposed wetland impacts regulated under Part 303. 

 
Timeline Information 

 We discussed the typical application review timeline.  
o 30-day completeness review period. 
o 90-day processing period (if a Public Hearing is requested/scheduled, another 60-days will be added to 

accommodate the hearing). 
o Permit decision prior to end of the processing period. 

 
Please let us know if you have any questions. 
 
Thank you, 
 
Jim Bales 
Environmental Quality Analyst 
Water Resources Division | Jackson District Office 
Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy 
(517) 257 - 4532 | BalesJ@Michigan.gov  
Follow Us | Michigan.gov/EGLE 

 
 
 
 

From: Tom J. Covert <tjc@midwesternconsulting.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, September 11, 2024 11:03 AM 
To: Bales, James (EGLE) <BalesJ@michigan.gov> 
Cc: Candice M. Briere <cmb@midwesternconsulting.com>; Tom J. Covert <tjc@midwesternconsulting.com>; Scott 
Halpert <scott@garrettsspace.org> 
Subject: RE: Garrett's Space Dixboro Road 
 

CAUTION: This is an External email. Please send suspicious emails to abuse@michigan.gov 

 

Good morning Jim, 
 
Thanks for your review of the historical information at 3900 Dixboro Road and for the information you provided.  A 
summary of the pre-application meeting/site visit would be great.  We’re fine with either an email or a letter, whichever is 
easier for you. Our goal will be to submit a permit application as quickly as possible.  
 
As part of our final site plan submittal to Superior Township, we have been asked to provide information from EGLE 
outlining the permit requirements, process, and particulars about the permit.  We are providing this summary in an effort 
to aid in time and effort toward this resolve as we work against important project timelines.  Please review the below 
summary and advise if we have characterized the permit process through EGLE for our limited impact for the roadway 
improvements.  



3

 A site visit was conducted on 08/28/2024 to review the existing wetlands and discuss proposed impacts and the 
project. 

 Based upon this review it was determined that an EGLE Individual Permit will be required for the proposed limited 
wetland impacts. 

 It was determined at the site visit that there will not need to be any additional wetland permitting for such things 
as storm water outlet locations due to the distance of outlet to regulated wetlands. It is also noted that the 
current storm water solution has been approved by the Washtenaw County Water Resources Commissioner’s 
Office. 

 The expected wetland impacts are the result of public road improvements on Dixboro Road that are being 
required by the Washtenaw County Road Commission (WCRC).  The impacts are unavoidable and have been 
minimized through a series of reviews with WCRC permitting staff. The grading which creates the impacts has 
been minimized as much as possible while still satisfying the requirements of the WCRC. 

 The impacts are minor at 0.07acres, and based upon current EGLE policy would typically not require wetland 
mitigation.  

 Of interest to many stakeholders of the project, the 58-acre conservation easement being proposed on the 
property has been proposed and approved with the area plan and preliminary site plan by the Township and 
County Stakeholders.  This easement will be conserving the areas around the existing stream, wetlands, slopes 
and trees. This easement is a mitigating element for the project and future impacts. The incorporation of green 
infrastructure/BMPs and invasive species removal/management at the site can also be considered as a form of 
mitigation. 

 
Based on current understandings of the project as noted above and at our site meeting, has it been your experience that 
permits of this nature are typically approved? Put another way, has there been other recent permit applications for similar 
minimized impacts for roadway improvements that have been denied? 
 
We understand the process to be as follows, please feel free to correct anything we have incorrect. 

 Prepare application and submit to EGLE for review of completeness 
 Completeness Determination by EGLE  
 Additional information shared with EGLE if required 
 EGLE reviews and posts notice of permit application 
 EGLE receives input from the public 
 EGLE determines if a public hearing is required 
 EGLE holds a public hearing and receives comments 
 EGLE continues to evaluate application 
 EGLE makes determination if permit will be issued 
 EGLE and applicant review and determine any additional needs 
 EGLE issues a permit (or not) 

 
We understand that this process can take up to 150 days to implement.  
 
Thank you for your review and input on the above information, questions, and summary. Again, our goal is to share this 
with our client, the Township Engineering / Planning consultants, and Planning Commission for clear indication of the 
project elements and the process through EGLE permitting.  
 
Please let us know if this is something that you can provide in the next week either as a formal letter or an email 
response to this note). Please feel free to contact us with any questions.   
 
Thank you for your continued help and attention to our project, 
Tom 
 
 
Thomas (Tom) Covert, AICP, RLA, LEED AP 
Principal  | 734.389-5303 

MIDWESTERN CONSULTING 
3815 Plaza Drive | Ann Arbor, MI 48108 | 734.995.0200 
 
 



4

 

From: Bales, James (EGLE) [mailto:BalesJ@michigan.gov]  
Sent: Friday, September 6, 2024 11:17 AM 
To: Tom J. Covert <tjc@midwesternconsulting.com> 
Cc: Candice M. Briere <cmb@midwesternconsulting.com> 
Subject: RE: Garrett's Space Dixboro Road 
 
Hi Tom, 
Thanks for reaching out to check on this. I did go through a historical review of the site to try and determine if the wetland 
in question (Wetland D in your provided delineation report) may meet the exemption under Part 303 that we had 
discussed while on site [Section 324.30305(4)(e) - A wetland that is incidentally created as a result of the construction of 
roadside ditches in upland for the sole purpose of removing excess soil moisture from upland]. I determined that Wetland 
D does not meet this exemption and is regulated under Part 303. The proposed project will require an Individual Permit 
review. Regarding mitigation, we often waive mitigation for unavoidable/permitted impacts below a tenth of an acre. 
Your plan/proposal to place ~58 acres within a conservation easement should be presented for us to consider in the 
“Mitigation” section of the application. Other forms of mitigation that can be considered for “smaller” impacts can 
include the incorporation of “green infrastructure”/BMPs into the plan, invasive species removal/management at the site, 
etc. A “final” decision on mitigation requirements cannot be made until we receive an application and make a permitting 
decision. 
 
I’ll still put together a pre-app letter/summary as a follow up to out meeting. Is an email acceptable for this file or would 
you like a more formal pre-app letter? 
 
Let me know if you have any other questions. Thank you, 
 
 
Jim Bales 
Environmental Quality Analyst 
Water Resources Division | Jackson District Office 
Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy 
(517) 257 - 4532 | BalesJ@Michigan.gov  
Follow Us | Michigan.gov/EGLE 

 
 
 

From: Tom J. Covert <tjc@midwesternconsulting.com>  
Sent: Thursday, September 5, 2024 12:49 PM 
To: Bales, James (EGLE) <BalesJ@michigan.gov> 
Cc: Tom J. Covert <tjc@midwesternconsulting.com>; Candice M. Briere <cmb@midwesternconsulting.com> 
Subject: Garrett's Space Dixboro Road 
 

CAUTION: This is an External email. Please send suspicious emails to abuse@michigan.gov 

 

James –  
 
Good afternoon. Checking in on the status of your review from our site meeting? 
 
I have the Township stakeholders checking with me about status and I am looking to update them ahead of a meeting 
they have scheduled here in September. 
 



5

My goal is to receive word from you that the State is, or is not regulating the wetland, and the type of permit we would 
pursue, and if mitigation would be required for the limited impact?  
 
Let us know if we can provide anything that would aid in your initial review? 
 
Thanks 
Tom 
 
Thomas (Tom) Covert, AICP, RLA, LEED AP 
Principal  | 734.389-5303 

MIDWESTERN CONSULTING 
3815 Plaza Drive | Ann Arbor, MI 48108 | 734.995.0200 
 

This email originated from outside the organization. Exercise caution when opening attachments or 
clicking links, and verify the sender's identity before responding.  

This email originated from outside the organization. Exercise caution when opening attachments or 
clicking links, and verify the sender's identity before responding.  



1

Candice M. Briere

From: Scott Halpert <scott@garrettsspace.org>
Sent: Wednesday, September 11, 2024 10:50 AM
To: Tom J. Covert; Gerald Fisher; Candice M. Briere; David Saladik
Cc: Julie Halpert
Subject: Fw: Garrett's Space Application for Conservation Easement

Encouraging news on the Conservation Easement. See the email from the County. 
 
Best, 
 
Scott 
 
Scott Halpert 
President and co-founder 
Cell: 734-709-7684 
Don't miss Go4GarrettsSpace 2024! Click on the logo now for details! 

 

From: Ginny L. Leikam <leikamg@washtenaw.org> 
Sent: Wednesday, September 11, 2024 10:43 AM 
To: Scott Halpert <scott@garrettsspace.org> 
Subject: RE: Garrett's Space Application for Conservation Easement  
  
Good morning Scott, 
  
I would say that NATAC had very positive reaction to the property and quality of the land and I think it is likely they will 
prioritize it.  They will do the final prioritization on Mon. 10/7 and I’ll give you the final word. 
  
Ginny 
  
  
  
  
  



2

Ginny Leikam 
Superintendent of Planning and NAPP | Washtenaw County Parks & Recreation Commission 
t. (734) 971-6337 | c. (734) 646-3336 
leikamg@washtenaw.org | washtenaw.org/parks  
Parks Administration | 2230 Platt Road Ann Arbor, MI 48104  
Mailing | PO Box 8645, Ann Arbor, MI, 48107 
  

Explore Washtenaw County Parks and Preserves 
  

From: Scott Halpert <scott@garrettsspace.org>  
Sent: Wednesday, September 11, 2024 9:57 AM 
To: Ginny L. Leikam <leikamg@washtenaw.org> 
Subject: Re: Garrett's Space Application for Conservation Easement 
  
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the 
sender and know the content is safe. 
Good morning, Ginny, 
  
Can you please share any feedback from the group regarding the Monday meeting? If it doesn't look promising 
that our property will be selected this year, Garrett's Space will be looking to quickly move to another group to 
grant the conservation easement. 
  
Thanks so much, 
  
Scott   
  
Scott Halpert 
President and co-founder 
Cell: 734-709-7684 
Don't miss Go4GarrettsSpace 2024! Click on the logo now for details! 

 

From: Ginny L. Leikam <leikamg@washtenaw.org> 
Sent: Wednesday, September 4, 2024 8:59 AM 
To: Scott Halpert <scott@garrettsspace.org> 
Subject: RE: Garrett's Space Application for Conservation Easement  
  
Scott, 
  
Thanks for reaching out.  As I mentioned previously, the advisory committee will be completing their prioritization for 
this year’s nominations in Sept. and Oct.  We have had a large pool of nominations so will be completing our site visits 
on Mon. 9/9 and will be doing an initial review at the Sept. NATAC meeting that same day.   



3

  
I’ll be in touch once I have more feedback from the group and can give you an initial review after the meeting next 
Monday. 
  
Are you all willing to provide any sort of limited public access on the property?  We can discuss what that might look like 
in the conservation easement language. 
  
Thanks, 
Ginny 
  
  
  
  
  
  

Ginny Leikam 
Superintendent of Planning and NAPP | Washtenaw County Parks & Recreation Commission 
t. (734) 971-6337 | c. (734) 646-3336 
leikamg@washtenaw.org | washtenaw.org/parks  
Parks Administration | 2230 Platt Road Ann Arbor, MI 48104  
Mailing | PO Box 8645, Ann Arbor, MI, 48107 
  

Explore Washtenaw County Parks and Preserves 
  

From: Scott Halpert <scott@garrettsspace.org>  
Sent: Wednesday, August 28, 2024 1:17 PM 
To: Ginny L. Leikam <leikamg@washtenaw.org> 
Subject: Garrett's Space Application for Conservation Easement 
  
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the 
sender and know the content is safe. 
Hi Ginny, 
  
I'm just circling back to check on the status of our application. Can you please let me know at your earliest 
convenience where things stand? 
  
Thanks! 
  
Scott 
  
Scott Halpert 
President and co-founder 
Cell: 734-709-7684 
Don't miss Go4GarrettsSpace 2024! Click on the logo now for details! 



 

Richard K. Carlisle, President   Douglas J. Lewan, Executive Vice President 
John L. Enos, Principal   David Scurto, Principal   Benjamin R. Carlisle, Principal   Sally M. Elmiger, Principal   Craig Strong, Principal    

Laura K. Kreps, Associate   Paul Montagno, Associate 

 
To:  Daine Millville-Friel, Township Zoning Administrator  
 
From:  Ben Carlisle, AICP 
 
Date:    September 16, 2024 
 
Re:    Majestic Oaks Area Plan Amendment Concept Plan 
 
 
The owner of Majestic Oaks, David Dowling, is seeking input from the Planning Commission 
regarding amending the approved Majestic Oaks Area Plan.  The Majestic Oaks Area Plan was 
approved in 2006.  The 26.5 acre parcel is located on the southeast corner of Prospect Road and 
Berkshire Drive.     
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



                 Majestic Oaks Area Plan Amendment Concept Plan                      
                    September 16, 2024 

2 
 

2006 Approved Plan 
 
The approved Area Plan was approved for 77 single-family detached units.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



                 Majestic Oaks Area Plan Amendment Concept Plan                      
                    September 16, 2024 

3 
 

2024 Proposed Plan 
 
The applicant would like to discuss amending the Area Plan. Please note that the applicant has 
provided a concept plan; however the concept plan is a working draft and is subject to change.  
Rather than focusing on the specific details of the concept plan, the applicant would like feedback 
whether conceptually the Planning Commission would support amending the concept plan to 
add a commercial or mixed use element to the frontage of the that fronts on Prospect and amend 
the housing type from single-family detached to a mix of housing types including single-family 
attached, duplex, and townhomes.   
 
This plan is very conceptual and the applicant is seeking feedback to amend the plan to allow for 
neighborhood retail  

 
 
 

Key:  
1.Neighborhood 

Retail 
2.Single Family 

Detached 
3.Duplexes 
4.Townhomes 

1 

2 
3 

4 



                 Majestic Oaks Area Plan Amendment Concept Plan                      
                    September 16, 2024 

4 
 

 
Master Plan 
 
The 2006 Area Plan was approved under a previous Master Plan, and significantly different 
economic and market conditions.   The site is located in the Geddes Road Urban Sub-Area.  This 
sub-area is very important to the Township as it provides a variety of housing types at densities 
that would not be possible without the availability of a municipal sewer and water system. There 
is still undeveloped land within this sub-area which represents much of the major development 
opportunity within the Township because utilities are not available or planned for other areas of 
the Township. In addition to areas planned for housing, there are also some existing and planned 
employment centers in the sub-area.  In order to implement other development policies and 
strategies such as natural feature preservation, rural housing provision, and open space 
preservation in other portions of the Township, this sub-area is designed for the most density in 
the Township.  By allowing for commercial, mixed use, and housing density and diversity in this 
is area will strengthen the townships position to protect other portions of the Township.   
 
Uses noted in the Master Plan for the Urban Sub-Area include:  
 

• Single-family residential developed in a traditional neighborhood pattern.  
• Public and institutional facilities such as schools, places of worship, police stations, and 

community centers, that support the surrounding residential properties.  
• Attached residential and multiple-family residential along neighborhood edges and 

adjacent to arterial corridors.  
• General and medical office. 
• Day-to-day neighborhood scale retail and services such as grocery and convenience 

stores, dry cleaners, pharmacies, banks, and beauty services.  
• Restaurants and cafes that offer various food options.    
• Mixed-use that includes uses noted above.  
• Public parks and open space. 

 
Day-to-day retail, mixed use, and housing options and housing diversity is a stated goal of the 
Master Plan.  The Township, and the surrounding area, includes a number of single-family 
neighborhoods.  Amending the Area Plan to include a mix of housing types, which may include, 
some single-family, would be consistent with the Master Plan.   
 
With regards to commercial uses, some form of neighborhood supported retail would provide a 
valuable service to existing neighborhoods and future residents of this development.  There are 
very limited neighborhood and local shopping options in the immediate area and the Township 
as a whole.  The inclusion of neighborhood retail for this location is consistent with the Master 
Plan.   
 



                 Majestic Oaks Area Plan Amendment Concept Plan                      
                    September 16, 2024 

5 
 

Since this is an Area Plan amendment, the Township has control over the future uses and can 
work with the applicant to ensure both the appropriate mix of housing types and inclusion of 
neighborhood retail is consistent with the Master Plan.     
 
Overall, we generally support the Area Plan amendment to add housing diversity and 
neighborhood retail in the development.   
 
Consideration for Planning Commission discussion:  

1. Does the Planning Commission support the amendment from single-family detached 
residential to a variety of housing types?  

a. If so, are there particular housing types that you would support?  
b. If so, are there particular housing types that you would not support?  
 

2. Does the Planning Commission support the addition of commercial development to the 
site?  

a. If so, are there particular uses that you would support?  
b. If so, are there particular uses that you would not support?  

 
3. Are there additional items that the applicant should consider. 

 
 
 
Sincerely,  

 
 

 
 
 
cc: Ken Schwartz, Township Supervisor  
 Lynette Findley, Township Clerk   
 George Tsakoff, Township engineer  



 

Benjamin R. Carlisle, President   John L. Enos, Vice President   Douglas J. Lewan, Principal 
David Scurto, Principal   Sally M. Elmiger, Principal   R. Donald Wortman, Principal   Craig Strong, Principal 

Paul Montagno, Principal   Megan Masson-Minock, Principal   Laura Kreps, Principal 
Richard K. Carlisle, Past President/Senior Principal 

 
 
TO: Superior Township Planning Commission 
 
FROM:  Benjamin Carlisle, Planning Consultant 
 
DATE:  September 18, 2024 
 
RE: Zoning Ordinance Rewrite Update Memo 
 
 
We have made good progress on the update Zoning Ordinance.  As previously noted, we have 
found that the current Zoning Ordinance to be disjointed and it is hard to find some regulations.  
As a result, we find the Ordinance is difficult to administer and a simple reorganization would 
greatly improve the clarity.  A revised Table and Contents and clearer organization of regulations 
will assist the general public and applicants in understanding the Ordinance and will assist the 
Township staff and Planning Commission in administering it.    
 
One of the biggest undertakings is a complete reorganization of the Zoning Ordinance.  To date 
we are 90% of the way through taking every single individual section of the existing Zoning 
Ordinance and reorganizing it into the following table of contents:  
 
Article 1:  Administrative 
Article 2:   Definitions 
Article 3:   Administration and Enforcement 
Article 4:  District Regulations 
Article 5:   Planned Unit Development 
Article 6:   Development Options 
Article 7:  General Provisions  
Article 8:  Site Plan Review 
Article 9:  Conditional Use Review 
Article 10:  Specific Use Standards 
Article 11:  Access, Parking, and Loading Requirements 
Article 12:   Site Design Standards 
Article 13:   Environmental Standards 
Article 14:   Sign Regulations 
Article 15:  Nonconformities 
Article 16:   Zoning Board of Appeals 
Article 17:   Amendment Procedure 



Superior Township Zoning Update Memo  
September 18, 2024 
 
 
 

2 
 

This has been a significant undertaking and we expect the reorganization to be completed by 
the end of September.   
 
Zoning Text Amendments  
 
Once the reorganization is complete, the second step is the actual amending of the zoning 
language.   We will provide redline versions of each article as we progress.   
 
I anticipate having Articles 1-3 ready for review by the Steering Committee for an October 
meeting.    We look forward to meeting with the Steering Committee in October to discuss 
proposed amendments.   
 
Sincerely,  

 
 


	Binder2.pdf
	9-25-24-Planning-Commission-Packet.pdf
	9-25-24-Planning-Commission-Packet.pdf
	9-25-24 Planning Commission Meeting Agenda.pdf
	9-25-24-Planning-Commission-Packet.pdf
	2024-07-24 PC-Minutes DRAFT.pdf
	3. DETERMINATION OF QUORUM
	4. ADOPTION OF AGENDA
	5. APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES
	6. CITIZEN PARTICIPATION
	7. CORRESPONDANCE
	10. OLD BUSINESS
	11. NEW BUSINESS

	Building MonthEnd Report_August 2024.pdf
	Building Year to Date Report_August 2024.pdf
	PZ memo_September 2024.pdf
	Majestic Oaks Concept - CWA Review Memo 9-16-24.pdf
	2024-04-11 Garrett's Space - Superior Twp Site Plan Review Application - FSP (Signed).pdf
	2024-08-30 Garrett's Space - Final Site Plan.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	01 COVER SHEET
	02 OVERALL EXISTING CONDITIONS PLAN
	03 ENLARGED EXISTING CONDITIONS PLAN
	04 ENLARGED EXISTING CONDITIONS PLAN AND TREE LIST
	05 LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS
	06 NATURAL FEATURES PLAN
	07 OVERALL REMOVALS PLAN
	08 ENLARGED REMOVALS PLAN
	09 DIMENSIONAL LAYOUT PLAN
	10 ENLARGED LAYOUT PLAN
	11 PROPOSED CONSERVATION EASEMENT PLAN
	12 ENTRANCE PLAN
	13 ENTRANCE GRADING AND DETAILS
	14 OVERALL GRADING AND SOIL EROSION PLAN
	15 ENLARGED GRADING PLAN
	16 OVERALL UTILITY PLAN
	17 SANITARY SEWER PLAN, DETAILS & CALCULATIONS
	18 OVERALL STORM WATER MANAGEMENT PLAN
	19 ENLARGED STORM WATER MANAGEMENT PLAN
	20 STORM WATER DETAILS & CALCULATIONS
	21 STORM WATER MANAGEMENT CALCULATIONS
	21A STORM SEWER PLAN AND PROFILES
	21B STORM SEWER PLAN AND PROFILES 2
	22 SITE DETAILS
	23 SITE DETAILS
	24 PHOTOMETRIC PLAN
	25 FIRE PROTECTION PLAN
	26 TEST PIT LOGS
	L.103A PLANTING PLAN OVERALL SITE PLAN
	L.103B PLANTING PLAN CLOSE UP
	L.500 LANDSCAPE DETAILS
	L.501 LANDSCAPE DETAILS
	L.502 LANDSCAPE DETAILS PLANTING
	G1.02 GROSS BUILDING AREA
	A2.01 OVERALL ELEVATIONS-RESIDENTIAL BUILDING
	A2.02 OVERALL ELEVATIONS-RESIDENTIAL BUILDING
	A2.03 OVERALL ELEVATIONS-CREATIVITY STUDIO


	Garretts Space Site Plan Review 9-9-24.pdf
	2023-06-26 WCRC Permit Email.pdf
	Garretts Space_Permit WELL2024-0074.pdf
	WO 9216_Garretts Space_rev 2.pdf
	WCHD Permit Status_3900 Dixboro_8.16.2024.pdf
	Zoning Ordinance Rewrite_PC - Cover Memo 9-18.pdf

	2024-09-16 Email from EGLE.pdf
	2024-09-11 Conservation Easement Email from NAPP.pdf

	2024.09.19_Garretts Space_FSP Rev 2.pdf
	Attention: Lynette Findley, Township Clerk


	20240919161646714.pdf

	20240919162210707.pdf



